

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE

ONE HUNDRED AND THIRTY-FIRST LEGISLATURE

FIRST REGULAR SESSION
December 7, 2022 to March 30, 2023

FIRST SPECIAL SESSION
April 5, 2023 to July 26, 2023

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST REGULAR SESSION
NONEMERGENCY LAWS IS
JUNE 29, 2023

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST SPECIAL SESSION
NONEMERGENCY LAWS IS
OCTOBER 25, 2023

PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.

Augusta, Maine
2023

B. Consult, as appropriate, with federal agencies, other interested state agencies, other states having a common interest in the species and interested persons and organizations; ~~and~~

C. Maintain a list of all species that the Legislature has designated to be endangered or threatened, naming each species by both its scientific and common name, if any, and specifying over what portion of its range each species so designated is endangered or threatened; and

D. Report to the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over inland fisheries and wildlife matters no less frequently than every 4 years on any recommendations, status updates or changes to the list of species designated as endangered or threatened.

Sec. 2. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶D, as amended by PL 2007, c. 166, §1, is further amended to read:

D. Sedge wren, *Cistothorus ~~platensis~~ stellaris*, endangered;

Sec. 3. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶F, as enacted by PL 2003, c. 573, §6 and affected by §8 and c. 655, Pt. C, §§3 and 6, is repealed.

Sec. 4. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶P, as amended by PL 2015, c. 121, §2, is further amended to read:

P. Clayton's copper, *~~Lycena~~ Tharsalea dorcas claytoni*, threatened;

Sec. 5. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶S, as enacted by PL 2003, c. 573, §6 and affected by §8 and c. 655, Pt. C, §§3 and 6, is amended to read:

S. Katahdin arctic, *~~Oenis~~ Oeneis polixenes katahdin*, endangered;

Sec. 6. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶BB, as enacted by PL 2003, c. 573, §6 and affected by §8 and c. 655, Pt. C, §§3 and 6, is amended to read:

BB. Tidewater mucket, *~~Leptodea~~ Atlanticoncha ochracea*, threatened;

Sec. 7. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶JJ, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 166, §1, is repealed.

Sec. 8. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶PP, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 166, §1, is amended to read:

PP. ~~Purple-lesser~~ Arctic fritillary, *Boloria chariclea grandis*, threatened;

Sec. 9. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶WW, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 121, §5, is amended to read:

WW. Frigga fritillary, *Boloria frigga saga*, endangered;

Sec. 10. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶ZZ, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 121, §5, is amended to read:

ZZ. Eastern small-footed bat, *Myotis leibii*, threatened; ~~and~~

Sec. 11. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶AAA, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 121, §5, is amended to read:

AAA. Six-whorl vertigo, *Vertigo morsei*, endangered; ~~;~~

Sec. 12. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶BBB is enacted to read:

BBB. Ashton's cuckoo bumble bee, *Bombus ash-toni*, endangered;

Sec. 13. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶CCC is enacted to read:

CCC. Bank swallow, *Riparia riparia*, threatened;

Sec. 14. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶DDD is enacted to read:

DDD. Bicknell's thrush, *Catharus bicknelli*, threatened;

Sec. 15. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶EEE is enacted to read:

EEE. Blackpoll warbler, *Setophaga striata*, threatened;

Sec. 16. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶FFF is enacted to read:

FFF. Cliff swallow, *Petrochelidon pyrrhonota*, threatened;

Sec. 17. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶GGG is enacted to read:

GGG. Margined tiger beetle, *Ellipsoptera marginata*, threatened;

Sec. 18. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶HHH is enacted to read:

HHH. Saltmarsh sparrow, *Ammodramus caudacutus*, endangered; and

Sec. 19. 12 MRSA §12803, sub-§3, ¶III is enacted to read:

III. Tricolored bat, *Perimyotis subflavus*, threatened.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 61

S.P. 46 - L.D. 74

An Act to Update the Responsibilities of the Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 38 MRSA §341-D, sub-§1-D is enacted to read:

1-D. Rulemaking. The board shall adopt rules as necessary for hearing appeals from insurance claims-related decisions of the commissioner and the State Fire Marshal under section 568-A. Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine technical rules pursuant to Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

Sec. 2. 38 MRSA §341-D, sub-§4, ¶C, as amended by PL 2007, c. 661, Pt. B, §3, is further amended to read:

C. License or permit decisions appealed to the board under another law. Unless the law provides otherwise, the standard of review is the same as provided under paragraph A; ~~and~~

Sec. 3. 38 MRSA §341-D, sub-§4, ¶D, as amended by PL 2017, c. 334, §3, is further amended to read:

D. License or permit decisions regarding an expedited wind energy development as defined in Title 35-A, section 3451, subsection 4 or a general permit pursuant to section 480-HH or section 636-A. In reviewing an appeal of a license or permit decision by the commissioner under this paragraph, the board shall base its decision on the administrative record of the department, including the record of any adjudicatory hearing held by the department, and any supplemental information allowed by the board for supplementation of the record. The board may remand the decision to the department for further proceedings if appropriate. The chair of the Public Utilities Commission or the chair's designee may serve as a nonvoting member of the board and is entitled to fully participate but is not required to attend meetings and hearings when the board considers an appeal pursuant to this paragraph. The chair's participation on the board pursuant to this paragraph does not affect the ability of the Public Utilities Commission to submit information to the department for inclusion in the record of any proceeding before the department; ~~and~~

Sec. 4. 38 MRSA §341-D, sub-§4, ¶E is enacted to read:

E. Decisions on insurance claims-related matters heard under section 568-A, including but not limited to decisions on eligibility for coverage, eligibility of costs and waiver and amount of deductible. Except as provided in board rules, an applicant must file the appeal not later than the 30th day after the applicant receives the decision made under section 568-A. If the board overturns the decision made under section 568-A, the department must pay reasonable costs, including reasonable attorney's fees, incurred by the aggrieved applicant in pursuing the appeal to the board from the Maine

Ground and Surface Waters Clean-up and Response Fund established under section 551. Reasonable attorney's fees include only those fees incurred from the time of an insurance claims-related decision forward. Decisions of the board are subject to judicial review pursuant to Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 7.

Sec. 5. 38 MRSA §568-A, sub-§2, as amended by PL 2015, c. 319, §27, is further amended by amending the first blocked paragraph to read:

The commissioner shall make written findings of fact when making a determination of deductible amounts under this subsection. The commissioner's findings may be appealed to the ~~Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board, as provided in section 568-B~~ Board of Environmental Protection as provided in section 341-D, subsection 2-C 4, paragraph E. On appeal, the burden of proof is on the commissioner as to which deductibles apply.

Sec. 6. 38 MRSA §568-A, sub-§2-B, as enacted by PL 2011, c. 206, §17, is amended to read:

2-B. Failure to pay deductibles. An order issued under subsection 1, paragraph F-1 may be conditioned on payment of the applicable deductibles. If an applicant fails to pay the deductible amounts as determined under subsection 2 within 180 days of receipt of a bill from the department or within 180 days of a decision by the ~~review board~~ Board of Environmental Protection as provided in section 341-D or an appellate court upholding the determination, whichever is later, the commissioner may seek reimbursement from the applicant or any other responsible party of all costs incurred by the State in the removal, abatement and remediation of the discharge for which coverage was sought.

Sec. 7. 38 MRSA §568-A, sub-§6, ¶C, as amended by PL 2015, c. 319, §28, is further amended to read:

C. Appeals of decisions made under this subsection may be made to the ~~Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board of Environmental Protection~~ as provided in section 341-D.

Sec. 8. 38 MRSA §568-B, as amended by PL 2019, c. 314, §§1 to 3, is further amended to read:

§568-B. Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board created

1. Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board. The Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board, as established by Title 5, section 12004-G, subsection 11-A, is created to ~~hear and decide appeals from insurance claims related decisions under section 568-A~~ and monitor income and disbursements from the fund under section 551. The review board consists of 9 members appointed for 3-year terms as follows:

A. One person representing the petroleum industry, appointed by the Governor, who is a representative of a statewide association of energy dealers;

A-1. One person, appointed by the President of the Senate, who has expertise in oil storage facility design and installation, oil spill remediation or environmental engineering;

B. Two members of the public appointed by the Governor who must have expertise in biological science, earth science, engineering, insurance or law and may not be employed in or have a direct and substantial financial interest in the petroleum industry;

C. The commissioner or the commissioner's designee;

D. The State Fire Marshal or the fire marshal's designee;

F. One member familiar with oil spill technology appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives;

G. One member with expertise in coastal geology, fisheries biology, marine fisheries or coastal wildlife habitat appointed by the President of the Senate; and

H. One member who is a licensed state pilot or a licensed merchant marine officer appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

An appointed member may not serve more than 2 consecutive 3-year terms.

Members other than those described in paragraphs C and D are entitled to reimbursement for direct expenses of attendance at meetings of the review board ~~or the appeals panel.~~

1-A. Vacancies on review board. An appointed member continues to serve until that member has been reappointed or a successor has been appointed except that, if the member has not been reappointed or a successor has not been appointed one year after the member's term expires, the member may no longer continue to serve. A vacancy occurring other than by expiration of a term must be filled by appointment for the unexpired portion of the term.

2. Powers and duties of review board. The Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board has the following powers and duties:

~~A. To hear appeals from insurance claims related decisions of the commissioner and the State Fire Marshal under section 568 A;~~

B. To adopt rules in accordance with Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2 and guidelines necessary for the furtherance of the review board's duties and responsibilities under this subchapter;

D. To monitor income and disbursements from the fund under section 551 and adjust fees pursuant to section 551, subsection 4, paragraph F, as required to avoid a shortfall in the fund;

E. To, at such times and in such amounts as it determines necessary, and in consultation with the department, direct the transfer of funds from the Underground Oil Storage Replacement Fund to the fund;

F. To review department priorities for disbursements from the fund and make recommendations to the commissioner on how the fund should be allocated;

G. To review and comment on the State's marine oil spill contingency plan; and

H. To review and monitor issues for oil spill prevention and response and recommend to the commissioner any regulatory changes that are appropriate.

2-A. Meetings. The Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board shall meet 4 2 times per year unless the review board votes ~~not to hold an additional meeting or not to~~ hold a meeting. Action may not be taken unless a quorum is present. A quorum is a majority of the seated members.

2-B. Chair. The review board shall ~~annually~~ choose a member to serve as chair of the review board every 2 years.

~~**2-C. Appeals to review board.** An applicant aggrieved by an insurance claims related decision under section 568 A, including but not limited to decisions on eligibility for coverage, eligibility of costs and waiver and amount of deductible, may appeal that decision to the Clean up and Response Fund Review Board. The appeals panel is composed of the member appointed under subsection 1, paragraph A 1, the 2 members appointed under subsection 1, paragraph B, the member appointed under subsection 1, paragraph G and the member appointed under subsection 1, paragraph H. The appeals panel shall hear and decide the appeal. Action may not be taken by the appeals panel unless a quorum is present. A quorum is a majority of the seated appeals panel members. Except as provided in review board rules, the appeal must be filed within 30 days after the applicant receives the decision made under section 568 A. The appeals panel must hear an appeal at its next meeting following receipt of the appeal unless the appeal petition is received less than 30 days before the meeting or unless the appeals panel and the aggrieved applicant agree to meet at a different time. If the appeals panel overturns the decision made under section 568 A, reasonable costs, including reasonable attorney's fees, incurred by the aggrieved applicant in pursuing the appeal to the review board must be paid from the fund. Reasonable attorney's fees include only those fees incurred from the time of an insurance~~

~~claims related decision forward. Decisions of the appeals panel are subject to judicial review pursuant to Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 7.~~

2-D. Report; adequacy of fund. Beginning on April 15, 2015 and every other year thereafter, the Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board, with the cooperation of the commissioner, shall report to the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over natural resources matters on the department's and the review board's experience administering the fund, clean-up activities and 3rd-party damage claims. The report must include an assessment of the adequacy of the fund to cover anticipated expenses and any recommendations for statutory change. To carry out its responsibility under this subsection, the review board may order an independent audit of disbursements from the fund.

2-E. Staff support. The commissioner shall provide the Clean-up and Response Fund Review Board with staff support.

See title page for effective date.

Sec. 5. 37-B MRSA §792, sub-§1, ¶E, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 464, §3, is amended to read:

E. The Commissioner of Transportation or the commissioner's ~~permanent~~ designee;

Sec. 6. 37-B MRSA §792, sub-§1, ¶F, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 464, §3, is amended to read:

F. The Director of the Maine Emergency Management Agency or the director's designee, who ~~shall serve~~ serves as chair;

Sec. 7. 37-B MRSA §792, sub-§1, ¶G, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 464, §3, is amended to read:

G. The Chief of the State Police or the chief's ~~permanent~~ designee;

Sec. 8. 37-B MRSA §801, sub-§2, ¶A, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 464, §3, is amended to read:

A. Registering facilities, not to exceed ~~\$50~~ \$100 per facility; and

See title page for effective date.

**CHAPTER 62
H.P. 63 - L.D. 95**

**An Act Concerning the
Membership of the State
Emergency Response
Commission and Fees for
Registering Facilities Required
to Report to That Commission**

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 37-B MRSA §792, sub-§1, ¶A, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 464, §3, is amended to read:

A. The Commissioner of Environmental Protection or the commissioner's ~~permanent~~ designee;

Sec. 2. 37-B MRSA §792, sub-§1, ¶B, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 464, §3 and amended by PL 2003, c. 689, Pt. B, §7, is further amended to read:

B. The Commissioner of Health and Human Services or the commissioner's ~~permanent~~ designee;

Sec. 3. 37-B MRSA §792, sub-§1, ¶C, as enacted by RR 1995, c. 2, §96, is amended to read:

C. The Director of Maine Emergency Medical Services, Department of Public Safety, or the director's ~~permanent~~ designee;

Sec. 4. 37-B MRSA §792, sub-§1, ¶D, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 464, §3, is amended to read:

D. The Commissioner of Labor or the commissioner's ~~permanent~~ designee;

**CHAPTER 63
H.P. 82 - L.D. 136**

**An Act to Clarify Court
Jurisdiction of Actions
Involving Children Brought
Under the Maine Uniform
Probate Code**

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 4 MRSA §152, sub-§5-A, as amended by PL 2017, c. 402, Pt. C, §3 and affected by PL 2019, c. 417, Pt. B, §14, is further amended to read:

5-A. Actions involving minors under Title 18-C. ~~Exclusive~~ Except as provided in paragraph C, exclusive, continuing jurisdiction of actions for guardianship, adoption, change of name or other matters involving custody or other parental rights with respect to a minor child brought under Title 18-C under the following circumstances: if proceedings under the Maine Juvenile Code brought against the minor child are pending in the District Court; if proceedings involving custody or other parental rights with respect to a the minor child, including but not limited to adoption, divorce, parental rights and responsibilities, grandparents' rights, protective custody, change of name, guardianship, ~~paternity, parentage or termination of parental rights and protection from abuse or harassment,~~ are pending in the District Court; or if the minor child is or was the subject of an order issued by the District Court terminating parental rights, appointing a guardian, including a permanency, emergency or interim guardian, awarding parental rights to a 3rd party or granting an adoption. This